# Supporting Local Ownership in Humanitarian Action

Béatrice Pouligny







### Raising the Bar

Enhancing Transatlantic Governance of Disaster Relief and Preparedness

## **Supporting Local Ownership in Humanitarian Action**

by Béatrice Pouligny

#### **Table of Contents**

About this paper	3
About the author	3
I. Introduction	5
II. Definitions	6
A short history of the notion in international discourse	6
(Local) Involvement	6
(Local) Participation	6
(Local) Capacity	7
(Local) Accountability and empowerment	8
(Local) Ownership	8
III. Components	10
The identification of relevant and skilled local partners	10
Government structures and political actors	10
Civil society organizations	11
Private sector	11
Community organizations	12
Terminology: Local, national actors or insiders?	12
Identifying and supporting local resources	13
IV. Implementation challenges	15
Managing outsider intrusions	15
Managing timing constraints	15
Maintaining humanitarian principles	16
Developing a dynamic micro-analysis of local socio-political contexts	16
Monitoring interventions	17
Managing asymmetric relationships	18
Re-enforcing local legitimacy & accountability	19
Supporting knowledge and skills transfer to promote self-help skills	20
V. Conclusion & recommendations	22
Recommendation 1: Transforming outsiders' operational culture	22
Recommendation 2: Adjusting intervention procedures	23
Recommendation 3: Advancing preparedness at the community level	25

#### About this paper

This paper is part of the 18-month research project *Raising the Bar: Enhancing transatlantic governance of disaster relief and preparedness* which is undertaken jointly by the Global Public Policy Institute, Berlin and the Center for Transatlantic Relations at Johns Hopkins University, Washington D.C. The project is financed by the European Commission and the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development.

For more information and forthcoming publications please see:

www.disastergovernance.net

#### About the author

Dr Béatrice Pouligny is an independent researcher and visiting professor at Georgetown University (Washington, DC). She is a former senior researcher at the Centre for International Studies and Research (CERI / Sciences-Po / CNRS) in Paris, France. She holds a doctorate in political sciences from the Institut d'Etudes Politiques de Paris (Sciences Po).

Dr Pouligny started her academic career after 15 years of field experience with the UN and NGOs in Latin America, Caribbean and Africa. Since then, she has continued to work as a policy advisor and a practitioner for the UN, NGOs and local communities in different parts of the world, including Central and South America, The Caribbean, Africa, Asia and the Balkans. She has also regularly designed and led training programs for different audiences, including diplomats, military and humanitarian staff, local community leaders.

Both her research and her practice have been geared towards the support of local capacities and a more productive interaction between local and international initiatives. From this perspective, she has also reflected and written extensively on the methodological and ethical issues raised by such work. Another characteristic of her approach is its trans-disciplinarity.

Dr Pouligny is the winner of two consecutive Fulbright Commission awards (2002-2003 New Century Scholar and Alumni Initiative Award, 2004) and former grantee of different public and private foundations in North America and Europe, including the Ford Foundation and the United States Institute of Peace.

She is the author of numerous articles and contributions (in French, English, Spanish and Dutch) as well as two main books: *Peace Operations Seen from Below: UN Missions and Local People*, London: Hurst / Bloomfield (CT): Kumarian Press, 2006 and *Ils nous avaient promis la paix: ONU et populations locales*, Paris: Presses de Sciences Po, 2004. She has also co-edited with Simon Chesterman and Albrecht Schnabel, *After Mass Crime: Rebuilding States and Communities*, Tokyo/New York/Paris: United Nations University Press, 2007. She has provided expert guidance in the creation of a thematic portal on Peacebuilding and has drafted most of the content:

www.peacebuildinginitiative.org

#### I. Introduction

The conceptual assumptions, operational components and practical implications of the 'local ownership' agenda in humanitarian action remain largely unmapped. The literature rarely refers to the notion. Humanitarian agencies refer to the idea of 'ownership' more readily amongst themselves, in reference for instance to the involvement of different humanitarian actors in one of the existing networks or collective initiatives. However, a few programs refer to a 'sense of ownership' as a key factor to their success. A typical example is the design and use of toilets in hygiene programs: They are more likely to be kept clean if users have a sense of ownership. This is encouraged by promotional activities; for example, having toilets close to where people sleep; involving users in decisions about their design and construction; and rules on proper operation, maintenance, monitoring and use.1 In general, humanitarian actors more commonly refer to the notions of 'local involvement,' 'participation' or 'capacity building.' In discussions with practitioners, the notion of 'local ownership' is sometimes perceived as more difficult to address in the context of humanitarian crises (caused by a violent conflict or natural disasters) than in longer-term forms of assistance. Many would even consider that there might be a trade-off between the imperative to save lives and deliver aid quickly in order to alleviate the immediate suffering and the need to respect and support local capacity and ensure local ownership. Humanitarian agencies often need to implement projects under important time constraints while meeting donor requirements, even though a large proportion of humanitarian aid actually goes to protracted crises. Experiences have shown that, however legitimate, these concerns often serve as excuses to postpone drastic transformations much needed in humanitarian practices.

This policy paper explains why and how the notion of 'local ownership' should gradually make its way in the humanitarian community, not because it is 'politically correct', but because it is a decisive condition to actually increase the quality and accountability of humanitarian aid (two commitments stressed by the Sphere Initiative for instance). Several reasons explain this. First, the international community is never the first to answer an emergency and never has the total capacity to face it; it must rely on, at

the very least, a minimum level of local capacity. Second, greater attention to the local ownership agenda is also a way to stress the importance of the impact of outside aid on local societies. Third, this notion is consistent with the rights-based approach of humanitarian aid, which focuses on the rights and agency of the individuals and groups affected by disaster, whether natural or man-made (including armed conflict). This perspective no longer considers local beneficiaries as mere victims and passive recipients of aid. As underlined by the *Sphere Handbook*, "participation is essential for people to define a program that helps them achieve their right to life with dignity;" this notion is central to the principles and code of conduct of humanitarian action.<sup>2</sup>

This paper will first review definitions related to the idea of local ownership and other notions associated with it. Then, it will address the main components of the local ownership agenda, before reviewing the main challenges that can appear in its implementation and suggesting ways to address them, relying on a number of concrete field experiences. Finally, it will suggest three series of recommendations.

<sup>1</sup> Sphere, 2004, Handbook: Excreta disposal standard 2: design, construction and use of toilets. 2 Sphere, 2004, Handbook.

#### **II. Definitions**

#### A short history of the notion in international discourse

The idea of ownership in development is hardly new, but since the mid-1990s local ownership and its variants have taken on particular prominence in the publications of bilateral and multilateral development agencies. A number of well-known examples provide reference points for this ongoing debate. The Development Assistance Committee (DAC) of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) asserts in its seminal 1996 statement Shaping the 21st Century that sustainable development "must be locally owned" and that development cooperation has to be shifted to a partnership model where donors' programs and activities operate within "locally-owned development strategies".3 Donors should "respect and encourage strong local commitment, participation, capacity development and ownership".4 The DAC linked these positions to a series of specific targets for poverty reduction that formed the basis of the Millennium Development Goals adopted by the United Nations General Assembly in 2000.

In a landmark proposal to the World Bank three years later, James Wolfensohn emphasized the idea that developing countries "must be in the driver's seat and set the course," owning and implementing their development strategies. Both the OECD and the World Bank progressively developed the two notions of "engaged society" and "effective states" to express the way in which local ownership should be understood.5 The UN Development Programme (UNDP) has also developed a series of analyses on ownership and technical cooperation. Major bilateral donors and non-governmental organization (NGO) consortia have done the same, sometimes connecting ownership and conditionality as a main theme. However, the prominence of the phrase is not matched by a corresponding depth of analysis, explanation or scrutiny in policy statements. The different agencies have also been slow in translating these commitments into practices.

The literature directly addressing local ownership in humanitarian action is still very modest in size. A relatively more extensive literature approaches the idea indirectly by analyzing related themes such as local involvement, participation or capacity as well as the reference to the notions of accountability and empowerment. These actually refer to different elements that are part of the notion of local ownership. They may also indicate a potential graduation. Their practical limitations also help to understand the advantage that would come with the adoption of the notion of local ownership as a standard of intervention.

#### (Local) Involvement

The idea of an increased involvement of local actors in humanitarian aid is a common catch phrase in discourse, but it remains an extremely vague notion. Very few answers are given, for instance, on who might be the actors concerned, how they should be identified, and even more importantly, how they could be concretely included, at what point of the process and for what purpose. This explains, for instance, the criticism of local actors regarding outsiders. These would be the champions of local ownership as long as local actors - whoever they are - follow up a project entirely designed by outsiders. This particularly applies to the humanitarian agenda and the identification of people's needs. A standard example is that in evaluation missions, when evaluators ask beneficiaries if anyone has ever asked them what their needs or even opinions were, the answer is "No".6 Similarly, communities are often reported as having little role in the management of donated aid.7

#### (Local) Participation

The participative discourse is the most commonly used in current humanitarian standards. For instance, the 2004 edition of the *Sphere Handbook* includes a chapter that details a number of process standards common to all sectors. These include the active

<sup>3</sup> OECD/DAC, 1996.

<sup>4</sup> OECD/DAC, 1996: 14.

<sup>5</sup> World Bank, 2005.

<sup>6</sup> CDA, 2008, Telford and Cosgrave, 2006, Turner et al. 2008.

<sup>7</sup> CDA (Collaborative Learning Project), 2008.

involvement of the affected population in the assessment, design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of the assistance programs. This is consistent with the common understanding of the notion of participation as an umbrella term including different means for a group or the public to take part in all aspects of an activity, including the decision process. However, in practice, participation is often understood in a more restricted way, as 'consultation' (where agencies validate strategies and decisions that have already been made) or 'participative management' (which actually refers to the limited participation of selected actors).

In practice, there can be divergence between 'popular' participation, which refers to the engagement of all populations (or aid beneficiaries) - in particular the 'disadvantaged' or 'vulnerable' (a terminology that is itself contested, in particular by those directly concerned) - and stakeholder participation, which highlights that other actors are involved beyond beneficiary groups. In some cases, the participation of beneficiaries may also be more symbolic than real. The whole rhetoric is often misleading and a vast literature in development anthropology has criticized the discourse about, and practice of, participation, showing that it considerably underestimates a number of fundamental questions, particularly in terms of the structure of power. This may lead to ambiguous if not contrary results, for instance when minority groups or those in positions of power capture processes at the expense of marginalized groups or the most vulnerable.8

The reflections gathered by the CDA Listening Project among experienced and thoughtful people who occupy a range of positions within thirteen recipient societies are also very revealing. Among the findings is the fact that 'participation' was not a term the people interviewed chose unless they were part of the 'aid delivery chain' and accustomed to aid jargon. "In contrast, those outside this chain often used a range of other expressions to describe what is often labeled 'participation,' including "to be involved;" "to have a part in the process;" "to have a say;" "to be consulted;" "to have input and influence;" "to have a role to play;"

"to join;" "to discuss together," "to decide together," "to work together" and so on." In other words, people asked for active roles in literally the entire project cycle and aid process. As suggested by the title of the CDA report and the very words of some of the interviewees, people want to "Discuss Together, Decide Together, Work Together". Seen this way, participation is "about building a two-way relationship, a sharing of know-how and experiences." It is about building a genuine dialogical exchange.

#### (Local) Capacity

In the past few years, the notion of 'capacity building' has become the new credo of the donor community and has penetrated the field of humanitarian action. The UN Terminology Database defines capacity building as a "process by which individuals, groups, organizations, institutions and countries develop, enhance and organize their systems, resources and knowledge, all reflected in their abilities, individually and collectively, to perform functions, solve problems and achieve objectives." This coincides with the definition of 'local capacity' in contexts of disaster as "a combination of all the strengths and resources available within a community, society or organization that can reduce the level of risk or the effects of a disaster".14 In international discourse, capacity building is specifically presented as a key to ensuring a smooth transition from relief to development and, ultimately, the withdrawal of international presence. Many practitioners also consider capacity building as the most effective way to prepare local actors for future crises.15 Some also consider that it is a crucial factor for minimizing perverse effects of assistance.16

The term 'capacity building' can be a misnomer in that it may imply a value judgment about the non-existence of capacities where they actually do exist, even in a rudimentary form, and would simply need to be unfolded, developed or enhanced. In most situations, some sort of capacity, however nascent or in part destroyed, is indeed present prior to any international presence or any capacity building work. Efforts should therefore be geared towards identifying

<sup>9</sup> CDA, 2008.

<sup>10</sup> Ibid.

<sup>11</sup> Ibid.

<sup>12</sup> Culbertson, Pouligny, 2007.

<sup>13</sup> http://unterm.un.org/, last accessed 7 May 2009.

<sup>14</sup> UNISDR, 2004.

<sup>15</sup> Sphere, 2004 Handbook: Health Services: 255.

<sup>16</sup> UN, 2005; UNICEF, 2006.

existing capacities, building on them and supporting them. The term has therefore acquired some less than positive connotations. In the development community, the term has gradually been replaced by 'capacity development' as "a means for strengthening and maintaining individuals', organizations' and societies' capabilities to set and achieve their own development objectives." <sup>17</sup>

Support to local capacity generally involves the following components: (1) material, infrastructural and technical support measures for key organizations and institutions; (2) transfer of skills and knowledge to a variety of governmental, non-governmental and civil society actors; (3) training; (4) facilitation of planning processes with local actors, including through need assessments, design of prevention and adequate response mechanisms and formulation of strategies and budgets; (5) community-based approaches and community development activities.

#### (Local) Accountability and empowerment

The notion of capacity building is also often linked to the idea of 'good governance,' highlighting the need for local governments' openness and accountability towards their own citizens in the management of aid. Most donors insist on the involvement of civil society organizations and local communities in the process as a requirement for establishing national ownership. At issue are the depth of organizational resources and autonomy in citizens' organizations and their own responsiveness as they seek to represent their members or communities, provide much-needed services and challenge their governments to be transparent and accountable. This internal accountability may also compete with external accountability to donors (both public and private), which may not share the same priorities as local populations and are in such a dominant position that they may prevail over the local citizenry. Local political and social actors from beneficiary countries regularly denounce this contradiction. This focus on local governments' accountability may also overshadow outsiders' own accountability towards local governments and societies, including the direct beneficiaries of humanitarian aid. The humanitarian community has focused on this aspect only relatively recently; so far, concrete reforms in that direction have been limited.

Local ownership may also be conceived as a form of **local empowerment**. It is most often phrased as

'community empowerment' to make the distinction with the first use of the concept in relation to gender issues. Fully embedded, the notion of empowerment supposes that beneficiaries are given some power, which means a certain leverage capacity in the local socio-political arena, as well as representative mechanisms at the community level to influence and even have some control over aid flows. This aspect is the least developed in the humanitarian field, in part because some actors have traditionally considered that they had neither the time nor the means to develop such approaches and that ultimately it might even be detrimental to the efficiency of aid delivery. Others have also stressed the intrinsic obstacles to any form of local empowerment in a system in which local people have so little actual power.<sup>18</sup> However, increasing evidence from the field shows that this path is not purely utopian.

This paper argues that aiming at a true support to local accountability and empowerment is, ultimately, the path to ensure greater preparedness as well as quality of humanitarian responses to disasters and other emergencies.

#### (Local) Ownership

In the international aid discourse, 'ownership' as part of the notion of 'local ownership' does not have its conventional meaning, i.e., rights of exclusive possession. Nor is it used in the organizational sense, referring to the owners of a business firm, or to the members of a non-profit association. 'Ownership' refers instead to relations among stakeholders in development or humanitarian action, particularly their respective capacity, power or influence to set and take responsibility for an agenda and to muster and sustain support for that. This means that part of the implementing bodies need to be firmly rooted in the recipient country and represent the interests of ordinary citizens. In this respect, appropriate mechanisms of representation are needed. Among other conditions traditionally underlined are the need for transparency and accountability among the various stakeholders, insiders and outsiders included.

An important point to note is that, in the development discourse – in which the notion is much more developed – it does not only refer to the 'act of owning.' 'Local ownership' also refers to the actual capacities of political, social and community actors in a particular country to set and take responsibility

for the aid agenda. This concern acknowledges the existence of a strong asymmetry between international and local actors and the necessity to remedy it. Therefore, local actors need to develop their capacity to influence substantially not only the management of humanitarian aid, but more broadly the conception, design, implementation and review of humanitarian responses to crises. On their side, international actors are responsible for supporting the progressive development of these capacities in a constructive dialogical exchange with local actors.<sup>19</sup>

In other words, the notion of local ownership encompasses the different components of local involvement, participation, capacity, accountability and empowerment. It might well be the ultimate condition to raise the quality of humanitarian responses to disasters.

#### **III.** Components

The actual development of a local ownership agenda relies on two basic components: identifying relevant and skilled local partners as well as identifying and supporting local resources. A number of conditions are required to ensure that humanitarian actors actually move in that direction; this policy paper will analyze those in the next section.

#### The identification of relevant and skilled local partners

Defining who the local partners are, how to identify them, how their stake (in terms of ownership) is negotiated and who takes the lead in the whole process, is essential. For a long time, there was scant reflection on these issues. The choice of local partners generally reflects the principles, interests and priorities of the outside party. This entails a decision, often taken abroad, as to who will be the main interlocutors of a specific humanitarian mission or organization and who should be the beneficiaries of the aid. This may create a certain power shift in the local arena, in particular in conflict settings.20 Most international organizations distinguish three categories of actors: governments, civil society actors (which may or may not include the private sector) and communities. These receive unequal attention from the different international actors engaging in humanitarian action. In practice, however, all three levels need to be addressed to ensure genuine ownership.

#### Government structures and political actors

Humanitarian workers rarely work only with a **central government**—which sometimes does not even exist or whose capacity to manage the humanitarian crisis may be impaired. The issue of 'leadership capacity' has attracted increasing policy attention, in particular in transitional societies (generally understood as societies under a political transition or in transition between war and peace) which constitute a fair percentage of the contexts in which humanitarian action takes place. The capacity of a central government outside of the capital city, in particular in rural areas, is also of concern. The existence and

capacity of a national coordinator is a key factor for success, including in helping with coordination of the international humanitarian response. A good national coordinator contributes to the quality of the international response. The case of Mozambique in response to the Zambezi river floods and Cyclone Favio in February 2007 is often presented as a good example of such strong local capacity at the central level. Another central factor is the relationship a central government has with the international community at large and with humanitarian agencies in particular. The attention (positive or negative) of the international community is generally a good asset that local political leaders can use, in different ways, for symbolic as well as material benefits. The cases of Myanmar and Sudan provide ample illustration of

Civil (also known as public) servants who are **government employees** also play an important role as they are humanitarian actors' main interlocutors in their day-to-day activities. They are also part of some of the channels through which humanitarian aid may be delivered in case the state retains some presence or is not totally circumvented.

In war and post-war contexts, agents of the state may also hold specific positions and interests in the conflict. In those situations, the role of the different political, military and para-military actors (including those commonly referred to in international discourse as 'warlords'), inside and outside of any official structure, deserves specific attention. Interests and alliances often move constantly and call for a dynamic understanding of the local political arena.<sup>22</sup>

The identification of **local authorities** outside the capital city may be difficult and needs careful preassessment and continuous monitoring mechanisms. Yet, humanitarian actors do not always have appropriate analytical tools. Local authorities may be elected or appointed officials (with consequences in terms of durability of their positions) and may include figures such as Mayors, Councils, Committees and Ombudsmen. The mechanisms enacted at local levels and the administrators that comprise these systems constitute the channel through which functions and services of the state are allocated and humanitarian aid can be delivered. In comparison to those different patronage networks, the state's capacity to fulfill its role, deliver aid in times of crisis and perform minimal functions may be limited. Corruption and rent-seeking activities are generally as prevalent at that level as they are at the national level. Where administrative legitimacy is low or inexistent, bolstering those networks can actually exacerbate societal tensions and undermine the very efficiency of aid delivery. Even more important, the diagnosis may vary considerably from one region of the country to the next, making the adoption of a unified strategy for those organizations which intervene in more than one region at a time more difficult.

#### Civil society organizations

Even when there are strong and capable government structures, **local civil society** remains a crucial partner. While definitions of civil society as a concept often diverge in the literature, overall agreement exists that this notion encompasses "the arena of voluntary, uncoerced collective action around shared interests, purposes and values." <sup>23</sup> Civil society organizations relevant for humanitarian action may be of different types: coordination bodies and platforms, non-governmental organizations, citizen organizations and associations, neighborhood committees, minority groups, women and youth organizations, disabled people organizations, etc.

Engagement with civil society can enhance humanitarian assistance on three levels.<sup>24</sup> First, civil society organizations serve as implementing agencies. They may also be perceived as an alternative to a deficient government and even a counterweight to the power-brokers, economic exploiters and 'warlords' who tend to predominate in conflict-ridden, weak, or socalled 'failed' states. Second, civil society organizations may constitute a bridge to other forms of social institutionalization, in particular at the community level. Third, in cases where outsiders have concerns

about the way local populations perceive them, engagement with local civil society may be a way to increase the ultimate acceptance of an intervention. A major handicap often stressed by practitioners is the lack of funding on the part of local NGOs. The lack of clear guidelines and support to allow local NGOs access to international funds (including in the preparation of their proposals) is often seen as a key factor preempting their involvement as well as the development of their capacity. A drastic improvement of the situation would require the preparation of adequate procedures well in advance.<sup>25</sup>

#### Private sector

The **private sector** may or may not be considered as part of this group, depending on the way one defines the notion of 'civil society.' Indeed, most of the literature considers civil society as a sector on its own vis-à-vis the three other main societal sectors—state, market and family. Although there is some degree of consensus on this basic distinction, some would continue to see business and markets as part of civil society.

Humanitarian actors collaborate with the private sector for different reasons. Business firms deliver local services - such as clean water, transportation management, electricity or food. In some cases, business firms can deliver services as efficiently as and more cheaply than local authorities. In case of natural disasters, local private companies may also offer inkind and cash donations or put their resources (including their employees) at the immediate service of local communities. They may also play an important role in repairing and rebuilding critical infrastructure. Whereas the role of big multinationals has been more readily studied in that capacity, notably in the context of the UN Global Compact, local actors may be the first in line playing this role. The local private sector is also a potential beneficiary of international aid. Indeed, local companies are engines for growth in the reconstruction phase and constitute a crucial link to long-term self-help.26 Local companies need support – through training and awareness raising, as well as through micro-insurance schemes - to stay in business in the aftermath of disasters.<sup>27</sup> Local business is also an important part of building

<sup>23</sup> Pouligny, 2005. 24 Pouligny, 2005: 496. 25 DARA/IASC, 2007: 39-40. 26 Business for Social Responsibility, 2004; Warhurst, 2006. 27 Warhurst, 2006: 16.

local resilience.<sup>28</sup> Moreover, private sector actors are increasingly engaged in partnerships to reduce the risk of disaster as well as in prevention activities.<sup>29</sup> This includes working with businesses to better protect their own operations and make sure that those operations do not add to the vulnerability of other members of the community.<sup>30</sup>

#### Community organizations

The definition and content of the notion of 'community' differs and evolves according to the local context and history. From one situation to another, the notion contains highly variable forms of organization and mediation. In a country's recent history, the modalities of organization and projection in the public space may have undergone a profound transformation stemming from several factors:

- First, contacts with national and international NGOs intervening in the area of humanitarian aid or development, according to a projectoriented approach that implies the existence of a certain type of 'organized' partner on the ground;
- Second, the effects of repression and war, or of the immediate natural disaster, leading in particular to major displacements of people to refugee and displaced person camps, or to cities, which hastens the breakdown of former community ties according to the imperatives of survival;
- Third, in war contexts, the effects of violence within the group, especially when this violence has been used and heightened by political entrepreneurs;
- Finally, transformation of identities and frameworks of reference as a result of violence and war.<sup>31</sup>

All of these factors need to be taken into consideration when identifying who the community actors are and accurately assessing their potential, beyond the appearances of disorganization and chaos that may characterize an emergency situation. This is underlined by the fact that evaluations of humanitarian

aid programs often show that community level involvement is insufficient and that the identification of interlocutors at that level is not sufficiently elaborated to support a true ownership process.

Who those selected as 'representatives' of the local beneficiaries are is also a key issue as those approached by outsiders are often middlemen and parts of local patronage networks.<sup>32</sup> Local patrons may also exclude nominal beneficiaries such as women, people with disabilities, remote rural communities, members of minority groups, etc. The issue of ensuring a **balanced representation** of women and men of all ages within the assistance programs, including vulnerable and marginalized groups, is of special concern for humanitarian agencies and is now stressed in all guidelines.<sup>33</sup>

#### Terminology: Local, national actors or insiders?

In most analyses and discourses, the adjective 'local' is used, more occasionally 'national,' to distinguish the sphere of the country in which the intervention occurs from the outside world. However, these adjectives may be problematic in particular settings. A national actor coming from the capital city or another social group may well be considered as an 'outsider' when he enters a specific community; therefore, some authors would distinguish between a 'national' and a 'local' level, but the criteria for distinction between the two are often unclear. The notions of 'insiders' / 'outsiders' have been suggested as being of greater heuristic value. Some authors have defined insiders as "those vulnerable to the conflict [or the disaster], because they are from the area and living there, or people who in some other way must experience the conflict and live with its consequences personally. [... Outsiders are those] who choose to become involved in the conflict [and who] have personally little to lose."34 For other analysts, the dichotomy may be more flexible as it is subjectively constructed by the actors concerned and mainly reflects the power relationships in a particular setting.35 In all cases, particular attention should be paid to how the 'local' is defined, by whom, and what the implications are.

<sup>28</sup> World Economic Forum, 2008.

<sup>29</sup> UNISDR, 2008; Warhurst, 2006.

<sup>30</sup> Warhurst, 2006.

<sup>31</sup> Pouligny, 2005: 507; 2006: 67-68.

<sup>32</sup> Pouligny, 2006; CDA Learning Project, 2008.

<sup>33</sup> See for instance the 2004 Sphere Handbook.

<sup>34</sup> Anderson and Olson, 2003: 36.

<sup>35</sup> Culbertson, Pouligny, 2007.

#### Identifying and supporting local resources

Insufficient attention has been paid to the idea of giving proper credit to the value of local resources. One of the first resources is information and knowledge. "Affected populations can be seen just as tragic victims and the passive recipients of external assistance. However, they are also the best source of first-hand information and knowledge needed by the humanitarian community."36 It is only recently that the importance of integrating local knowledge and practices into projects has started to receive real recognition and the approach is still far from being mainstreamed. Some recent initiatives aim at increasing awareness and understanding, particularly among implementing organizations, of local knowledge, practices and contexts related to disaster preparedness, so that they can be used in disaster management activities.37

Humanitarian actors may feel that bringing their own solutions and action frameworks may save time and be more efficient in the short-term. Yet, they tend to forget that, even in the worst disaster, on the ground, local coping strategies have emerged and different forms of aid have got organized long before they arrive. According to the Tsunami Evaluation Coalition, local actors broadly met initial needs of communities hit by the tsunami. The issue was more how outside agencies were able to support those initial responses and meet ongoing needs.38 Another study based on recipient perceptions stated that in the recollections of the Tsunami-affected people, the aid provided during the first 48 hours was overwhelmingly from private individuals or the local community (up to 91% in Indonesia for instance), although this varied by country and by service.<sup>39</sup> In some cases, this help came from young people, teenagers and students, for example, a group of students from a Jakarta University mountaineering club in Indonesia who went to Banda Aceh in Indonesia on their own initiative and at their own expense to take part in relief efforts.<sup>40</sup> Even if limited, these local resources must be, at the

very least, minimally identified, known and understood by outsiders: They are already on the ground, are the first to respond and are there for a longer term, a dimension that is even more important in all cases where humanitarian aid goes to protracted crises. Supporting and/or complementing existing services and local institutions in terms of structure and design are key for the sustainability of the programs.41 Yet, in the case of the Tsunami, the Tsunami Evaluation Coalition found that international actors reduced local and national ownership of response as agencies sometimes brushed local capacities aside and set up parallel mechanisms.<sup>42</sup> Guidelines developed so far emphasize the importance of designing programs in such a way that they build upon local capacity, maximize the use of local skills and avoid undermining people's own coping strategies.<sup>43</sup> This means that an assessment has to be made of the availability and reliability of local capacity before sourcing from outside the area. This applies to different types of humanitarian aid: food, shelter construction, health, etc. Outsiders need to use locally sourced materials such as skills and labor, without adversely affecting the local economy or environment. Specific guidelines have been developed to that respect.44 In too many cases, ignoring indigenous coping strategies increases civilian jeopardy and puts segments of the population at even higher risk.45

Seeking resources within each specific context also demonstrates respect for the value and integrity of local cultures and populations. Most practitioners emphasize the importance of designing programs and interventions that are culturally appropriate and sensitive, taking into consideration communities' frames of reference and strategies. Concepts and values informing beneficiary selection, intervention criteria as well as fundamental notions of aid and solidarity may vary. If not properly taken into account, those variations may create serious problems in the implementation of aid programs. The respect for local resources and belief systems also requires better understanding and acknowledging their diversity

<sup>36</sup> UN Global Symposium, 2007: 12.

<sup>37</sup> See for instance the 2007 project and subsequent publication 'Living with risk – sharing knowledge on disaster preparedness' funded by the European Commission through their Humanitarian Aid department (DG ECHO) as part of the Disaster Preparedness ECHO program in South Asia and by ICIMOD.

<sup>38</sup> Telford and Cosgrave, 2006.

<sup>39</sup> Fritz Institute, 2005.

<sup>40</sup> UNICEF, 2005.

<sup>41</sup> Sphere Handbook: Common Standards. Common standard 1: Participation, 2004.

<sup>42</sup> Telford and Cosgrave, 2006.

<sup>43</sup> Sphere Handbook: Common Standards. Common standard 1: Participation, 2004.

<sup>44</sup> Sphere Handbook: Food Aid. Food aid management standard 2: supply chain management, 2004; Sphere Handbook: Shelter & Settlement. Shelter and settlement standard 5: construction, 2004.

<sup>45</sup> Boyden, 1994: 25.

and dynamics. In some cases, new technology may be introduced to add value to the traditional systems and make them more resilient in the face of new threats such as those posed by climate change. The experience of local communities and the NGO SEEDS in Barmer, Rajasthan, India, provides a great example of how indigenous knowledge and modern science can work together to provide environmentally friendly shelter solutions in a flood-affected desert region. The indigenous technology for constructing shelters was transferred from generation to generation but was insufficient to face unprecedented floods in 2006. Research was carried out on appropriate technologies for supporting the traditional construction system, which led to the Stabilized Compressed Interlocking Earth Block technology. Local mud is stabilized with five percent cement and compressed into blocks that have high structural strength and can resist water. This technology capitalizes on existing traditional wisdom on construction materials and technologies best suited to the local environment and culture.46

One key issue across programs has to do with who decides what the local 'cultural resources' and norms are and presents them to outsiders. This relates not only to an understanding of power dynamics within these societies, but also to its inherent strengths and liabilities. Disagreements about the ownership of cultural resources may be as strong as those on water or land, for instance. Moreover, local norms and customs may be, but are not necessarily, supportive of international humanitarian standards. It is useful for external actors to be particularly aware of this potential source of tension and put in place informed identification processes and mechanisms that allow for discussion at the community level.<sup>47</sup>

#### IV. Implementation challenges

Most observers and analysts agree that, so far, donors do not seem to be much guided by their own rhetoric. 'Local ownership' is a catch phrase, but it is hardly implemented. The handbooks developed by some UN agencies very clearly show the limits of its practicality.48 Some analysts would even argue that an actual implementation of literal 'local ownership' is impossible, if not counterproductive, given the current asymmetrical structures of international cooperation.<sup>49</sup> This may seem even more unrealistic in the humanitarian field in view of the specific constraints of this sector, in particular in terms of quick and efficient delivery. However, the analysis of actual practices helps understand both the main operational challenges and the potential of actual implementation of the local ownership agenda in humanitarian aid. The main principle to remember is that there is no blueprint for infusing local ownership. Approaches should be context-specific, determined by and tailored to the diversity of political, social and economic factors.50

#### Managing outsider intrusions

Outsiders themselves constitute an important obstacle to local ownership. When a 'crisis' is discovered by the 'international community' and comes to the forefront through different channels, the country may then experience a real 'invasion.' Hundreds if not thousands of representatives of international organizations — intergovernmental and non-governmental — will arrive in the capital city, occupying a space no longer available to local actors. Humanitarian actors often also come with an impressive amount of material and resources that is all the more invasive. They may also have a detrimental effect on local economies — for example, large increases in salaries, prices in the stores, and house rents — which impedes local organizations from functioning properly. Because they intervene in an unknown and at times highly insecure environment, outsiders also tend to collaborate with other outsiders, in a largely closed circle, partially isolated from the 'real world.' 51

Humanitarian workers may also very easily feel that they are 'in charge,' while they are not the only actors in the process and not the most important ones. If they want to support local ownership, they need to be modest, flexible, patient and unobtrusive, which is almost the opposite of what typifies most current practices. It may also contradict what organizations need in order to ensure their visibility, self-promotion, legitimacy towards donors or what any staff member may seek to get good performance reports.

#### Managing timing constraints

At a practical implementation level, achieving true local ownership may be messy and time-consuming and may not conform nicely to donors' needs for visible, easily verifiable and quick results. The pressure can be particularly high in the aftermath of natural disasters.<sup>52</sup>The importance of promoting self-reliance is also sometimes overshadowed by the importance of urgent delivery, an important and valuable objective as such. Practitioners may consider that there is a trade-off between the immediacy of the required results and the process of delivering these results. Here, some distinction needs to be made between interventions in sudden large-scale natural disasters and those in lasting protracted crises like those in Darfur, Somalia, Eastern Congo or Afghanistan. In the latter cases, humanitarian actors may be present on the ground for more than a decade, a reality that reinforces the importance of supporting local capacity building, self-sufficiency and sustainability. However, in all cases, local ownership is a key factor to ensure that aid is actually matching local needs in a sustainable way. Lessons learned from positive and negative experiences in the response to the 2005 Pakistan earthquake have shown that, for instance, the delivery of inappropriate shelter did not help recipients to survive harsh winter months, or lighting stoves in tents without guidelines on using them safely did not protect beneficiaries. "The challenge lies in marrying the imperative for a rapid response with the need to ensure that the response is both adequate

<sup>51</sup> Pouligny, 2005: 501.

<sup>52</sup> CDA, 2008.

and professional. Here, "timing does matter!" and so did the processes put in place by some organizations to make sure that the relief activities responded to people's actual situation and supported their capacities.53 This corresponds to a major concern of international agencies who want to make sure that outside aid is efficient and can be withdrawn as soon as possible after the immediate emergency phase.54

#### Maintaining humanitarian principles

One of the dilemmas humanitarian actors may consider when engaging more with local actors is the extent to which this may contradict the requirements of 'impartiality' (if not 'neutrality') of humanitarian aid. Indeed, humanitarian principles have been traditionally based on the core principles of humanity, neutrality, impartiality and independence.<sup>55</sup> Originally, these principles were established to facilitate the delivery of assistance, its security and access. However, the reality is that in many crises, humanitarian aid is not perceived as 'neutral' as such. The choice of the modalities of aid, where and how it will be delivered, who it will be discussed (or negotiated) with, etc. means that humanitarian workers are de facto interfering in a sociological, political and economic reality and have an impact on it.56 In the eyes of every single local actor, a number of different, highly subjective parameters will enter into play to assess that involvement and its so-called impartiality.<sup>57</sup> Refusing to work with some local actors based on strict neutrality and independence may also limit the ability to provide relief to some of those in need and thus may lead to non-neutrality in practice, regardless of intent.58 Some analysts have even been more critical, stressing the fact that 'neutral policies' may actually exacerbate inequities. Some have argued that this extends further, as neutrality on the part of aid agencies in militarized camps makes them culpable for violence against women by security agents.<sup>59</sup> In other words, the notions of 'impartiality' and 'neutrality' have many facets: The public position adopted by organizations regarding political disputes; the actual effect of their interventions; and the perception by others, in particular beneficiaries. 60 This explains why several humanitarian organizations have moved towards a more field-centric, rights-based approach to humanitarian principles, paying more attention to local views for how principles meet practice.61 Indeed, in practice, field staffs often implicitly modify rules in reaction to circumstances.

The same is true of the **legitimacy** of humanitarian assistance. Field reality reminds us that the legitimacy of any outsider's action, however generous its motives are, is never guaranteed. Local actors judge humanitarian actors by results: On what they say that they intend to do, on what they actually do and on how they behave and face up to their responsibilities.62

#### Developing a dynamic micro-analysis of local socio-political contexts

An important step towards increased local ownership is to open up to the local society and, at the very least, understand how it functions. Too often, outsiders act blindly, without adequate knowledge of the context of their intervention and 'end up committing the dual sin of ignorance and arrogance, to use the words of a senior UN official. Capacity assessment needs to be part of needs assessment. The development of such analytic capacity requires outsiders to look beyond the impression of disorganization – or even chaos — often given by societies at war, just emerging from conflict or recently hit by a disaster. It also calls for socio-political analysis that helps understand who the local interlocutors and potential partners are. Indeed, humanitarian workers commonly intervene in contexts where their interlocutors may change hats as individuals and not fit nicely into fixed categories such as those that, in war contexts, try to distinguish between civilians and combatants. Those cleavages are often considerably blurred, putting in jeopardy important bases of humanitarian principles and action.<sup>63</sup> Many critics of prevalent approaches of

54 UNHCR, 2005. 55 Leader, 2000. 56 Keen and Wilson, 1994. 57 Pouligny, 2006. 58 Stott, 2007: 11. 59 Callamard, 1999; ATHA, 2008.

60 HPN, 2003.

61 ATHA, 2008: 4.

53 Lauffer, 2006.

62 Pouligny, 2006.

63 Chesterman, 2001.

international aid also denounce the emphasis on individual 'victims,' 'beneficiaries' or 'vulnerable' people as opposed to identification of individuals as 'survivors,' historical 'actors' in a struggle, genuine actors with an agenda, resources and strategies, members of families and communities, part of sometimes extensive and complex networks.<sup>64</sup> This implies that vulnerability, for instance, is a relative state – a multifaceted continuum between resilience and absolute helplessness, based on contextual circumstances. A thorough needs assessment therefore needs to take into consideration specific circumstances (sometimes at a very micro-level) that shape that degree of vulnerability and hence the type of action necessary. Humanitarian actors have increasingly integrated that phase of the work, but it is not always sophisticated enough and does not sufficiently inform their daily practices.

The literature now largely emphasizes the necessity to take on a 'Do No Harm' approach, i.e. to be cognizant of the unintended consequences some aid programs may have, especially with respect to the situation of vulnerable and underrepresented groups. For instance, by claiming to be gender blind in camps where discrimination exists and by providing aid on that basis, some agencies were criticized for perpetuating and intensifying gender inequality.65 The failure to acknowledge socio-cultural context can have disastrous consequences. The 'Do No Harm' approach helps identify the ways in which international humanitarian assistance may be provided so that, rather than exacerbating and worsening the crisis, it helps local people to develop systems for resolving problems at hand. It has also proven that a better understanding of the underlying social and cultural values of a local community could be blended into projects designed to enhance ownership, participation and sustainability (CDA; Anderson, 1999). Such an approach is not reserved to those who have the luxury of working with a long-term perspective. So far, one of the main reasons why practices do not change and improve fast enough is that modes of operation tend to be too superficial and 'toolkit' oriented. One avenue to bypass these limitations is to articulate research-action at each stage of humanitarian programs as different structures in Europe and the U.S. have started to develop in the last two decades. But this approach remains too marginal and it needs to

become mainstreamed. Moreover, if more knowledge has been developed, it is not always available to practitioners in forms useful to them and, even less, actually translated into improved practices.

#### **Monitoring interventions**

The pre-assessment, internal monitoring and evaluation of aid programs is a key factor in introducing a shift towards actual ownership in the development field. Even if the specificities of humanitarian aid may at times complicate the conditions in which these exercises are undertaken (in particular in terms of timing and delivery and in cases of natural disasters), more efforts are necessary to make them more systematic. Too many programs have no comprehensive monitoring and verification system of the sociopolitical and economic dynamics they engender (or hinder), particularly at the micro-level. Outsiders need to micro-monitor and manage the impact of their actions in quality as much as in quantity terms. They need to assess the effect of aid on the local social, economic, political and cultural context, including on specific dimensions such as the capture of resources by the elites.66 Yet, this is often missing. For instance, the inter-agency real-time evaluation of the response to the February 2007 floods and cyclone in Mozambique noted that "monitoring was at a basic level. Monitoring reports dealt with the quantity of inputs rather than with the quality of assistance provided or its impact. Cluster leads and member staff were more focused on delivering services to a very dispersed population than on monitoring the quality of the services being delivered overall. The initial monitoring focus was simply on coverage rather than of the quality of service, and cluster reporting reflected this. This improved to a limited extent later on and there was some qualitative monitoring by staff in the field, but this was ad hoc rather than systematic."67

There may also be serious drawbacks and risks appearing in a 'community-based' approach to humanitarian delivery. For instance, consultations can inadvertently reinforce hierarchical structures and further marginalize vulnerable groups or can be manipulated by some groups, leading to distrust. Likewise, when engaging with some groups such as displaced populations, particularly in conflict or post-conflict

areas, it is important to take into consideration how the host community is included in the local ownership agenda, otherwise risks may actually increase.<sup>68</sup> International actors should anticipate these risks so that they do not place disproportionate demands on local communities.

Some lessons can be taken from the development field where monitoring and evaluation of capacity building experiences, for instance, has been gradually improved.<sup>69</sup> This kind of tool is a key condition to see the different dimensions of the ownership agenda implemented and to promote a decisive shift in organizational cultures and practices.

#### Managing asymmetric relationships

Even more than in the development field, the pursuit of some degree of local ownership in humanitarian action is hampered by significant asymmetries of resources, access and influence at different stages of the planning process and during the delivery of humanitarian aid. Relationships between outsiders and insiders have, almost by definition, the nature of patronage.70 Who defines aid strategies is a critical question. In particular, when the extent of the disaster is large and the local government capacity limited, local decision-makers' choices and room to maneuver seem limited vis-à-vis international actors. This power asymmetry also goes with cultural domination, with most of the models of humanitarian aid being decided and imposed from outside. Some analysts have criticized the 'top-down' nature of humanitarian principles for that reason: "The official humanitarian enterprise remains a select club in which the rules are set by a rather peculiar set of players who are generally far-removed from the realities of the people they purport to help."71 Hence, external actors are often those establishing rules, principles, as well as scope of humanitarian engagement even though they are significantly distanced from, and thus least able to, interpret operational environments.<sup>72</sup> In its implementation, humanitarian assistance has also been qualified by analysts as being an essentially 'top down' process: "Humanitarian agencies are often poor at consulting or involving members of the affected population and beneficiaries."<sup>73</sup> In emergency relief operations, there is a huge power imbalance between relief workers and beneficiaries. This is also true of the relationships between international and local NGOs. Moreover, there is a strong temptation to create or instigate the creation of 'home-grown' NGOs, who may be more malleable and easier to work with. Among other consequences, "there can be considerable discrepancy between the agency's perception of its performance and the perceptions of the affected population and beneficiaries."

Asymmetric relationships also characterize local contexts. Humanitarian aid may increase them and exacerbate tensions in local patronage networks, as well as power struggles. Distribution of aid and, more broadly, the re-allocation of resources to which humanitarian aid contributes, can intensify divergences and conflict among different groups or parties. This can be particularly true when one group dominates an apparatus, and efforts are made to reach out to those in minority; or when the modes of aid distribution induce new modalities of rent distribution. Existing patronage networks may also be prone to corruption. The infusion of new resources through humanitarian aid tends to exacerbate them.

In this context, it is particularly important to consider the role of all actors who play the role of broker, performing intermediary functions between outsiders and insiders. Local employees of international structures play an important role in this respect and, depending on the way in which they are selected, managed, given recognition and controlled, they may either contribute to developing a sense of local ownership, or not.<sup>76</sup>

In order to be more successful, humanitarian aid would ideally involve all groups of stakeholders, including those who are generally referred to as 'beneficiaries.' In view of the difference in interests, this means that working relationships would include a mix of cooperation, competition and conflict management, the objective being to create win-win situations for all stakeholders and the maximum

68 The Brookings Institution, 2008. 69 James, 2001. 70 Smillie, 2001. 71 Donini, 2007. 72 ATHA, 2008. 73 Hallam, 1998. 74 Pouligny, 2005: 501. 75 Hallam, 1998. 76 Pouligny, 2006: 87–95.

efficiency and quality of humanitarian aid for local beneficiaries. The consequence is that humanitarian staff needs to have adequate skills to manage these types of relationships. Conflict settings present specific challenges in this respect. Indeed, in such contexts, who is armed or not often constitutes a decisive criterion as to the place occupied by any actor and its capacity to attain its objective. The capacity to appear as a potential spoiler often gives a decisive (and disproportionate) advantage to define one's relevance, notwithstanding one's actual skills and capacity to contribute positively to the success of a humanitarian action. This does not mean that marginalized actors, at the community level, do not have the capacity to develop strategies — the fact is that they do, particularly because they have immediate needs to meet for them and their family. However, the less powerful they are, the more they tend to consider that they have very little to gain from the international aid. This attitude, very common at the community level, is often wrongly perceived as a signal of 'indifference,' 'apathy,' or even 'ingratitude' but it clearly limits the chance for any sense of ownership on the part of ordinary people.<sup>77</sup> On the positive side, outsiders may affect local power configurations in a positive way, ensuring for instance a greater inclusion of marginalized groups such as women and ethnic minorities. "In Ethiopia, community members saw women who were trained or hired by NGOs play growing roles in communal meetings and their relationships within households have also changed."78

#### Re-enforcing local legitimacy & accountability

A specific difficulty posed by the asymmetry and patronage patterns of humanitarian aid is that local structures, governmental and non-governmental, created or instigated by outsiders are generally oriented first towards the outside world and not their own society. Outside interventions even tend to reverse the legitimization process. Legitimacy does not arise from any social basis, but is granted by outsiders through the provision of crucial symbolic as well as material resources. International and local legitimating mechanisms may actually contradict one another. Local leaders do not answer to their people, but to international authorities and norms. The great advantage of this situation for local leaders is that they can easily manipulate it if they are smart enough to appear to conform to the expectations of the international community. In addition, international

actors, though best equipped to provide service delivery, may undermine the state's responsibility to its citizenry and may encourage populations to look to agencies for assistance, rather than to seek accountability within government structures.

The outsiders' actual accountability towards local people and partners also needs to be drastically improved and prioritized. For the moment, it remains largely insufficient and generates all kinds of frustrations. NGOs have power because they control access to essential services and goods and they can be in danger of behaving as if they were accountable only to their donors, rather than to the people whom they serve. It is often in the early stages of an emergency response that basic principles of accountability are dispensed with. Some organizations have fundamentally reoriented their work from that point of view, seeking to empower beneficiaries through such mechanisms as information sharing, transparency and inviting feedback from beneficiaries, including by establishing complaints mechanisms. This is, for example, what Tearfund did in Kashmir and North Kenya, Medair in it post-tsunami water and sanitation program in Aceh province (Indonesia) or CARE in Peru's earthquake response in 2007. These mechanisms are also crucial for preventing and detecting corruption, a subject that remains taboo in too many cases. 79 The Humanitarian Accountability Partnership, established in 2003, has designed a whole set of definitions, procedures and standards that specify how an agency should ensure accountability to its stakeholders. Its members are progressively putting them into practice. Other guidelines include the Emergency Capacity Building Project: Impact Measurement and Accountability in Emergencies: The Good Enough Guide (2007), People in Aid: Code of Good Practice for human resource management in emergencies (2003; revision of 1997 code) as well as the International Council of Voluntary Agencies: "Building Safer Organizations" handbook and guidelines for investigating charges of abuse and exploitation by humanitarian workers (2007). The establishment of such standards is an important step, but more efforts are needed to increase their implementation. Some analysts remain skeptical in view of the intrinsic obstacles to such implementation: lack of power and influence of those most in need, limits of the aid system itself, power and patronage distortion both at the international and national level.80 According to them, accountability would be a virtuous aim, but an

utopist one. The answer may be that a one-size-fitsall, de-contextualized and de-politicized form of accountability does not and cannot enhance humanitarian action.<sup>81</sup> The approach suggested in this policy paper is locally driven and embedded. To be credible, these measures also need to go hand in hand with effective performance assessments and sanctioning systems for humanitarian organization staff, as well as specific training, including in intercultural communication and facilitation skills.<sup>82</sup>

An important dimension for humanitarian agencies is that focusing more decisively on their local legitimacy and accountability should help deal with some of the tensions they currently experience between the humanitarian principles and codes of conduct and the reality on the ground. Organizations that have started implementing some aspects of it, notably through local accountability mechanisms, such as Tearfund in Pakistan or Medair in Indonesia, have reported an improved sense of security of the staff because of the increased interaction with the community and an increase in mutual trust. This has a concrete impact, as for instance organizations had much fewer problems in storing items of value.83 World Vision International considers that "accountability works as a community-based warning system that can help to significantly reduce organizational risk and flag issues early."84 The organization also found that "having a department with a mandate to represent community perspectives help[ed] staff to reconnect with their original reasons for working for WV and to strengthen commitment to organizational values around valuing people."85 This does not mean that the process will always be an easy one. However, guiding humanitarian staff to engage more with local populations is probably the best way to deal with some of the contradictions humanitarian agencies face in their operations.

## Supporting knowledge and skills transfer to promote self-help skills

Acknowledging and fully considering the extent of knowledge and experience that local people have about their own situation is clearly difficult. Lessons learned in the development field show that the involvement of a greater proportion of national consultants and experts and, where appropriate, the development of South-South cooperation are among the major modalities inducing a shift towards local ownership. Opportunities to encounter and learn about different possibilities for humanitarian aid governance are also important contributions to local ownership at the leadership level. One interesting experience is the ProVention Consortium, a global partnership of governments, international organizations, academic organizations, the private sector and civil society whose goal is to support developing countries to reduce the risk and social, economic and environmental impacts of natural hazards on vulnerable populations. The consortium organizes regular international forums that allow for South-South exchanges of experiences.86 Experiences of learning exchanges between community leaders in Central America or Asia have also shown the possibility and value of such encounters, helping community leaders to share lessons, build partnerships and learn new ways to reduce the impact of potential disaster in their communities.87

Such a spirit is even more important to promote when working with social and community actors. As in the Canadian model of community-based rehabilitation programs, it is important to involve, utilize and build on existing resources in affected people, their families and communities, but also to transfer some skills so that resources become available to all and rehabilitation is 'democratized.'88 The experience of Sreema Mahila Samiti, an NGO in the Nadia district, West Bengal, provides a good illustration of that. "In its disaster preparedness programs, it has trained women self help groups in the skills of survival and rescuing. Women and girl children now swim fearlessly. Women can now put together temporary shelters, raise tube-wells, assemble emergency boats and can row them to save themselves and others from the floods. These newly learned skills and the encouragement to use them have made women less dependent on male community members for their rescue. The program also concentrates on training children in survival skills. In some cases, women have been

<sup>81</sup> Davis, 2007.

<sup>82</sup> Pouligny, 2005: 499-500; People in Aid, 2003, 2007.

<sup>83</sup> Bainbridge, Tuck and Bowen, 2008.

<sup>84</sup> World Vision, 2007.

<sup>85</sup> Ihid

<sup>86</sup> Provention, 2008.

<sup>87</sup> Disaster Watch, 2008; NADRR, 2007.

<sup>88</sup> Boyce, Koros & Hodgson, 2002; Boyce & Lysack, 1997; Helander et al, 1989

inducted into the rescue teams and men in the task force for childcare and first aid, generally considered to be a woman's work."89

However, such a transfer needs to be based on a consistent analysis of skills and knowledge already available in the community. It also supposes some support to communities decision-making capacity and sometimes basic education. This again may require time, but both the humanitarian and the development communities have accumulated enough experience to draw the most important lessons and, on that basis, design guidelines and tools to help support that capacity, even when time is short. Local training institutions, as well as organized networking, need to be involved in the process to facilitate the local exchange of knowledge and best practices.

#### V. Conclusion & recommendations

During the past decade, the humanitarian community has initiated a number of interagency initiatives to improve accountability, quality and performance in humanitarian action. Four of the most widely known initiatives are the Active Learning Network for Accountability and Performance in Humanitarian Action (ALNAP), the Humanitarian Accountability Partnership (HAP), People In Aid and the Sphere Project. Representatives of these initiatives began meeting on a regular basis in 2003 in order to share common issues and harmonize activities where possible. Since 2006, these four have been joined by Coordination SUD (Solidarité, Urgence, Développement), Groupe URD (Urgence Réhabilitation Développement) and the Emergency Capacity Building Project (ECB). This collaborative work has been decisive in putting in place new guidelines and tools to increase the quality of humanitarian aid. The process standards developed by the Sphere project on participation constitute an important step towards the promotion and implementation of the local ownership agenda. Other initiatives mentioned in this report have also allowed dialogue and thinking on quality issues to move forward. However, much effort is still needed for this progress to be reflected in practices, processes and procedures.91 The following recommendations suggest concrete avenues to pursue those efforts.

### Recommendation 1: Transforming outsiders' operational culture

Outsiders need to transform radically their operational culture. This process needs to be supported in four ways:

More action research is needed in order to assess concrete experiences in which new modes of operation have been tested and to identify the methods and models that better support local ownership. The leverage effect that outside humanitarian aid should fundamentally have for local actors needs to be better conceptualized and understood, including in its various interactions with local political, social and economic processes, so that it accurately informs humanitarian practices (aid programs, job descriptions, monitoring mechanisms, etc.). This also requires a true ethical reflection about what it is to be an outsider in an emergency.<sup>92</sup>

It is time now for organizations and consortia to put more emphasis and effort on the consistent implementation of accountability and quality standards and tools.

Progress has been made in recent years in codifying these tools but implementation remains scarce. All staff training and job descriptions need to be revised in order to reflect adequately this new orientation. "Practicing accountability requires an organizational culture - and support from the leadership - that is supportive of learning, of corrective action and of continuous improvement. Otherwise, accountability can be seen by staff as a distraction or as 'something that complicates things' as opposed to a way to meet our objectives and improve our performance."93 The impact on practices needs to be more precisely assessed and documented so that humanitarian staff can believe it can make a difference and those lessons can start being taken on board more generally by the humanitarian community.94

## A shift in donors' policy is needed to support implementation.

All organizations that have started implementing the process attest to the importance of institutional commitment translated into more means, as well as staff trained and dedicated to the task. However, contrary to the rhetoric, "funds are more willingly affected to quantifiable results than to substantial

<sup>91</sup> Davis, 2007; Callamard, Braband, 2002.

<sup>92</sup> Pouligny, 2002.

<sup>93</sup> Smith and Jauregui, 2008.

<sup>94</sup> Humanitarian Accountability Report, 2007; People in Aid, 2007; Annual Disaster Report, 2007.

expenditures."95 It is donors' responsibility to support humanitarian agencies to become responsive organizations. There is also a need for some budgetary flexibility to be able to respond fully to some of the suggestions raised by beneficiaries. Some organizations consider that, for instance, "there is anecdotal evidence that donors are more open to incorporating accountability into project design than we give them credit for."96 Humanitarian agencies need to develop a concrete dialogue with donors to articulate and better explain the local ownership agenda and develop mechanisms to incorporate the costs into budgets (using for instance part of the communications and monitoring and evaluation budget lines), to fully resource the strengthening of local ownership agenda in an emergency response.

Last but not least, the local ownership agenda needs to be more openly discussed and advanced in partnership with organizations in the Global South.

While coordination and dialogue among international actors have improved drastically over the last two decades, in particular across the Atlantic, global platforms and international actors often fail to engage and link with local levels.

### Recommendation 2: Adjusting intervention procedures

Adequate — tailor-made — procedures need to be agreed on and implemented to ensure that key local stakeholders in humanitarian aid in any given situation will have both the means and the capacity to be actively involved at all stages. This **adjustment of intervention procedures** demands that:<sup>97</sup>

### The focus should be on processes as much as on results of humanitarian aid.

This shift coincides with the call by the Tsunami Evaluation Coalition for a "fundamental reorientation from supplying aid to supporting and facilitating communities' own relief and recovery priorities." Different organizations have already echoed this call and developed best practices and detailed guidelines in this respect. An increasing number of field evaluations also look at the methodologies involved and use qualitative indicators as much as quantitative ones. However, this fundamental reorientation needs

to be mainstreamed by donors, as well as agencies, and find concrete implications at all levels of intervention.

## The humanitarian aid community and each organization need to put more efforts in improving knowledge management.

Focusing on local ownership means that every intervention needs to be context-specific and determined by the diversity of social, demographic and economic factors. This is because regions and communities vary enormously with respect to their administrative structures and capacities, economies, social and cultural conditions, population distribution, financial and workforce resources, local skills and materials, etc. This supposes a certain knowledge that needs to be better developed (notably through thorough qualitative micro-level needs assessment as well as micro-monitoring systems) and managed so that it actually informs daily decisions and practices. Quality 'pre-assessments' are essential in order to identify the capacities and gaps among the different actors. Humanitarian actors often claim that they do not have enough time for such evaluations, including because they are under donor pressure. True or not, this perception needs to be changed. In each program, field staff should have at their disposal concrete guidelines to help them identify their interlocutors in contexts where actors may no longer play the same role as before the disaster, and where hierarchies and values may have changed and new ones may have emerged. They also should have key indicators for monitoring and reporting on their work and their impact on local people's lives.99

<sup>96</sup> Smith and Jauregui, 2008.

<sup>97</sup> Culbertson & Pouligny, 2007; Boyce, Koros & Hodgson, 2002.

<sup>98</sup> Telford and Cosgrave, 2006.

<sup>99</sup> Pouligny, 2005, 2006.

This means that a learning culture needs to be created in which front-line staff want to learn from the local actors and share knowledge because they think it is useful.<sup>100</sup>

Too often, the main moment when beneficiaries are asked to give their opinion is during field assessments. This is too limited and too late and tends to keep them in a passive role.<sup>101</sup>

## Enough project staff needs to speak local languages and understand local cultural, social and political dynamics.

Those who do not have that knowledge should receive, at the very least, pre-deployment briefings and adequate tools and support to understand their environment.

## A supporting partnership of diverse groups in a designated community needs to be built.

The IFRC 2007 Annual Disaster Report, which focused on the issue of discrimination against vulnerable groups during disasters, suggests the formation of "Community Response Committees" to help ensure that local communities lead their own recovery, and that a diverse group of community members is involved. Community surveys and focus groups can also provide important inputs, but the report notes that humanitarians are often under pressure not to share the results beyond organizational leaders. This needs to change.

## Adequate resources need to be assigned to develop local skills, including in the immediate management of a crisis.

Participative and accountable mechanisms need to receive the same kind of concrete support. This requires a clear commitment on the part of donors.

## Implementation arrangements need to be realistic, practical, incremental, transparent, participatory and non-discriminatory.

This means that more emphasis needs to be put on transparent information and a wider communication and outreach strategy.<sup>102</sup> This should include two aspects. One is the need for people affected by a disaster to have access to the right information.

When Cyclone Nargis hit Myanmar in May 2008, it was weeks before local humanitarian relief efforts were reinforced by an international response. However, in that time, information outlets provided a life-saving service according to the UN OCHA. Dedicated radio broadcasts helped many to survive in those first critical weeks, telling them how to purify water, treat minor ailments, identify serious medical problems and build basic shelters. Information is also crucial when rumors are the rule in violent contexts.

The other dimension is to provide people with adequate information about what they can expect from aid agencies. In too many cases, evaluations show that people did not know what they would receive and sometimes had unrealistic expectations.<sup>103</sup> The experience of Tearfund in Spin Boldak, at the border between Afghanistan and Pakistan, contrasts this classic scenario. Tearfund supported the extension and renovation of a local school in a community where many internally displaced people were to be integrated after IDP camps were closed. At a time when the work had to stop for funding limitations, the team shared budget information with local communities, showing not only a will to be transparent, but giving a better sense of the actual limitations of the project. This also allowed to identify, with the local authorities, limited but real occurrence of fraud and to remedy them.<sup>104</sup> Different NGOs, like Oxfam, utilize information boards to inform communities. In Aceh (Indonesia), the organization Austcare has used the board to post criteria required for participation in a project to reconstruct brick factories prior to requesting proposals from the community. Then they posted the list of successful participants with a brief explanation of why they were selected and why those who were unsuccessful were not. The organization found that it was very effective in ensuring that community jealousy and conflict were kept to a minimum and messages previously "lost in translation" were made clear and accessed by all.<sup>105</sup> Others like the Humanitarian Accountability Partnership and the 2004 Sphere Handbook have produced guidelines for the establishment of complaint mechanisms. People can comment on the programs by different means, including public meetings, through a special office or via community-based organizations, for instance. Some organizations have started to implement those measures. Such processes require additional means and skills, but prove extremely beneficial for

<sup>101</sup> Sphere standards on Participation, 2004.

<sup>102</sup> Pouligny, 2006: 147–54.

<sup>103</sup> DARA/IASC, 2007: 50; HAP, 2007b.

<sup>104</sup> Bainbridge, Tuck and Bowen, 2008.

<sup>105</sup> Clinton Initiative, 2006; Oxfam, 2008.

the projects. They need to be generalized. These elements need to be part of a broader effort to make effective two-way communication with affected population common practice during crises.

## Recommendation 3: Advancing preparedness at the community level

Different agencies and initiatives have now centered their strategies towards developing preparedness at the community level.<sup>107</sup> This emphasis on advancing preparedness needs to be confirmed and strengthened. Indeed, many evaluations have found that first rescue and early relief efforts were almost always local, meaning that they were largely from individuals from the community or close to the community. Thus, it is critical that, particularly in disaster-prone areas, local communities are provided with the basics of preparedness and are included in preparedness plans. 109 Some organizations have also learned from past experience the importance of planning in advance so that partner staff in countries vulnerable to emergencies are trained in appropriate guidelines and procedures such as Sphere as part of preparedness measures (see for instance the experience of Christian Aid in Sri Lanka after the Tsunami, in 2004: Paratharayil 2007). Similar efforts should apply to protracted crises in which humanitarian aid stays for several years, sometimes over a decade. As pointed out by a study on emergency preparedness in the United States, it seems obvious that, almost by definition, all emergencies occur in some local community. "But this is not as obvious in the national and international discourse on emergency management. For example, in the United States, emergency management is concentrated in federal agencies and to a limited extent in state governments. Attention and support for local community development and coordination is minuscule."109 What is true in a country like the U.S. is even truer in many other contexts. Donors and humanitarian agencies need to increase their efforts in this respect.

The TEC evaluation report on the response to the Asian Tsunami recognizes that promoting local ownership in humanitarian emergencies can be difficult and time-consuming to achieve. "Nevertheless the potential advantages offered by ownership by the affected population, including more effective, appropriate and sustainable aid, should be deemed to outweigh the difficulties. Some see humanitarian action as relieving the distress of the affected population without addressing the underlying causes. However, Article Nine of the Red Cross/NGO Code of Conduct states that 'relief aid must strive to reduce future vulnerabilities to disaster as well as meeting basic needs."110 Moreover, all the accounts of recent and current experiences in which one or several aspects of the local ownership agenda were pursued show that, in the end, it has increased the adequacy and efficiency of humanitarian aid and at times allowed both a quicker and more focused implementation of the project. It is time for the humanitarian community to move one step further in its commitment for both greater quality and support to the rights and dignity of local populations.

#### VI. Selective Bibliography

Advanced Training on Humanitarian Action – ATHA (2008), *Management of Field-Based Knowledge: Locally Driven Organizational Learning*, Thematic Brief, January.

ALNAP (2003). "Field Level Learning: What and Why?" In ALNAP. *Review of Humanitarian Action in 2003*. London: ALNAP.

Anderson, M. (1999), Do No Harm: How aid can support peace-or war, Boulder (Co.): Lyne Rienner Publishers.

Anderson, M. and Woodrow P. (1998) *Rising from the Ashes: Development Strategies in Times of Disaster*, Boulder (Co.): Lyne Rienner Publishers.

Anderson, M. (2005) *Accountability Beyond Counting: What Is Humanitarian Aid Responsible For?*, Discussion Paper for the SSRC Seminar Series 'The Transformations of Humanitarian Action':

http://www.ssrc.org/programs/emergencies/publications/Anderson.pdf

Bailey, S. (2008) Need and greed: corruption risks, perceptions and prevention in humanitarian assistance, HPG Policy Brief 32, London: Humanitarian Policy Group, September.

Bainbridge, D., Tuck, E., Bowen, K. (2008) Beneficiary Accountability: Disaster Management Team Good Practice Guidelines, Tearfund.

Berry, C. et al. (2004), *Approaches to Improving the Delivery of Social Services in Difficult Environments*, London: Department for International Development.

Bhattacharjee, A. (2007), Common Humanitarian Accountability Framework for IWG Agencies. Inter Agency Working Group: Emergency Capacity Building Project (ECB2).

Boyce, W. and Lysack, C. (1997) "Understanding the Community in Canadian CBR: Critical Lessons from Abroad", *Canadian Journal of Rehabilitation* 10(4): 261-271.

Boyce, W., Koros, M., Hodgson, J. 2002. Community based rehabilitation: a strategy for peace-building *BMC International Health and Human Rights* 2: 6.

Boyden, J. (1994), "Children's Experience of Conflict Related Emergencies: Some Implications for Relief Policy and Practice", *Disasters* 18 (3).

(The) Brookings Institution / University of Bern Project on Internal Displacement (2008), *Moving Beyond Rheto*ric: Consultation and Participation with Populations Displaced by Conflict or Natural Disasters, Washington DC: Brookings Institution, October.

Business for Social Responsibility (2004) Business Brief: Response to the Indian Ocean Tsunami.

Callamard, A. (1999), "Refugee women: a gendered and political analysis of the refugee experience," in *Refugees: Perspectives on the Experience of Forced Migration*, ed. By Alastair Ager: 196-214, London: Cassell.

Callamard, A. Van Braband, K. (2002), "Reclaiming Humanitarianism? The Necessity of Accountability', *Insights*, January.

CDA, Collaborative Learning Project (2008), The Listening Project Issue Paper: "Discuss Together, Decide Together, Work Together", September.

Chambers, R. (1997) Whose Reality Counts? London: Intermediate Technology Publications.

Chesterman, S., Ed. (2001), Civilians in War, Boulder (Co.): Lynne Rienner Pub.

Clinton Initative (2006), Public Information and Accountability in Aceh and Sri Lanka, Clinton Initiative paper, October.

Cooke, B., Kothari, U. eds. (2001), Participation: The New Tyranny, London: Zed Books.

Culbertson, R. and Pouligny, B. (2007), "Re-imagining peace» after mass crime: a dialogical exchange between insider and outsider knowledge", in *After Mass Crime: Rebuilding States and Communities*, edited by B. Pouligny, S. Chesterman and A. Schnabel: 271-287. Tokyo/New York: United Nations University Press.

Davis, A. (2007), Concerning Accountability of Humanitarian Action, HPN, Network Paper N° 58, February.

De Renzio, P. and S. Mulley (2006) *Promoting Mutual Accountability in Aid Relationships*, ODI Briefing Paper, April.

Development Assistance Research Associates (2007), Inter-agency real-time evaluation of the response to the February 2007 floods and cyclone in Mozambique, DARA/IASC: May.

Development Assistance Research Associates (2008), Evaluation of DIPECHO Action Plans In Central America (1998-2007), DARA/ECHO: March.

Disaster Watch (2008), *Community Hazard Mapping: Learning Exchange on Resilience in Honduras July 18, 2008*, Trujillo, Honduras: GROOTS International's Community Resilience Program / Comite de Emergencia Garifuna.

Donini, A. (2007) "Looking Ahead: Making our Principles Work in the Real World." Feinstein International Center, *Presentation at the Global Humanitarian Platform Meeting*, Geneva, July 11.

Emergency Capacity Building Project (2007) *Impact Measurement and Accountability in Emergencies: The Good Enough Guide,* Oxfam Publishing.

Ewins, P., Harvey, P., Savage K. and Jacobs, A. (2006) *Mapping the Risks of Corruption in Humanitarian Action*, London, Berlin and Bergen: ODI, Transparency International and the Christian Michelsen Institute.

Fritz Institute (2005). Recipient Perceptions of Aid Effectiveness: Rescue, Relief and Rehabilitation in Tsunami Affected Indonesia, India and Sri Lanka.

Groupe URD (2003) *Global Study on Participation By Affected Populations in Humanitarian Action*: www.global-studyparticipation.org.

Hallam, A. (1998) *Evaluating Humanitarian Assistance Programmes in Complex Emergencies*, RRN Good Practice Review, London: Overseas Development Insitute.

Humanitarian Accountability Partnership (2005), Accountability Orientation Leaflet: A Brief Orientation for Humanitarian Staff: Accountability, Responsibility and Quality, Geneva: HAP-International.

Humanitarian Accountability Partnership (2007a), *Principles, Standard, and Benchmarks*, Geneva: HAP-International.

Humanitarian Accountability Partnership (2007b), *The 2007Humanitarian Accountability Report*, Geneva: HAP-International.

Humanitarian Accountability Partnership (2008), The Guide to the HAP Standard, Oxfam Publishing.

Helander, E. Mendis, P., Nelson, G., Goerdt, A. (1989) *Training in the Community for People with Disabilities*, Geneva: World Health Organization.

Hilhorst, D. and N. Schmiemann (2002), "Humanitarian Principles and Organizational Culture: Everyday Practice in Médecins Sans Frontières-Holland" *Development in Practice* Vol. 12, No. 3/4 (Aug): 490-500.

Hopgood, S. (2007) 'Saying "No" to Wal-Mart? Money and Morality in Professional Humanitarianism', in M. Barnett and T. G. Weiss (eds) *Humanitarianism in Question: Politics, Power, Ethics*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.

HPN (2003), "Neutrality", Humanitarian Exchange, Number 25, December, London: HPN/ODI.

ICIMOD (2007), Local Knowledge for Disaster Preparedness: A literature Review.

ICIMOD (2007), Herders of Chitral: The Lost Messengers? Local Knowledge on Disaster Preparedness in Chitral District, Pakistan

ICIMOD (2007), The Snake and the River Don't Run Straight: Local Knowledge on Disaster Preparedness in the Eastern Terai of Nepal

IFRC (2007), World Disasters Report. Focus on discrimination, International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, Kumarian Press/Eurospan.

International Council of Voluntary Agencies (2007) *Building Safer Organizations: handbook and guidelines for investigating charges of abuse and exploitation by humanitarian workers.* 

James, R. (2001), *Practical Guidelines for the Monitoring and Evaluation of Capacity Building: Experiences from Africa,* The International NGO Training and Research Centre Occasional Paper Series Number 36, October, Owford: INTRAC.

James, W. (1999) "Empowering ambiguities," In Angela Cheater, ed., 13-27, *The Anthropology of Power; Empowerment and disempowerment in changing structures*, New York: Routledge.

Keen, D. and Wilson, K. (1994), "Engaging with violence: a reassessment of the role of relief in wartime", in *War and Hunger: Rethinking International Responses for Complex Emergencies*, edited by J. Macraze, A. Zwi: 209-222. London: Zed Books.

Kent, R. (2004), "Humanitarian Futures. Practical policy perspectives", HPN Network Paper No. 46. April, London: ODI.

Lattu, K. (2008), To complain or not to complain: still the question. Consultations with humanitarian aid beneficiaries on their perceptions of efforts to prevent and respond to sexual exploitation and abuse, Geneva: HAP.

Lauffer, S. (2006), "Timing matters: capacity-building during an emergency response" Humanitarian Exchange Magazine, Issue 34, July, London: HPN/ODI.

Leader, N. (2000), *The Politics of Principle: the principles of humanitarian action in practice*. London: Overseas Development Institute Humanitarian Policy Group Report 2, March.

Leonhardt, M. (2000), Conflict Impact Assessment of EU Development Cooperation with ACP Countries: A Review of Literature and Practice. Geneva: International Alert and Saferworld.

Loquercio, D. with M. Hammersley and B. Emmens (2006), "Understanding and addressing staff turnover in humanitarian agencies." *ODI Humanitarian Practice Network* Paper No. 55, June.

Maxwell, D. et al. (2008), *Preventing Corruption in Humanitarian Assistance: Final Research Report*, Berlin, Boston, and London: Transparency International, Feinstein International Center and the Overseas Development Institute.

Miller, D. B., Rudnick, L. (2008), *The Security Needs Assessment Protocol: Improving Operational Effectiveness through Community Security*, New York/Geneva: UNIDIR.

Mosse, D. (1995), "People's knowledge," In *Project planning: the limits and social conditions of participation in planning agricultural development*, London: Overseas Development Institute.

National Alliance for Disaster Risk Reduction (NADRR) (2007), *People, Policy, and Partnership for Disaster Resilient Development*, Proceedings of the workshop, New Delhi: India Habitat Center, November.

Namusobya, S. (2008), "Can't Africans be Humanitarians too? Building Local Capacity to Coordinate and Manage Humanitarian Responses in Africa." Presentation to 3rd International Council of Voluntary Agencies Conference *Essential Humanitarian Reforms*, Geneva, February 1.

OECD/DAC (1996), Shaping the 21st Century. Paris: OECD.

OECD/DAC (2006), The Challenge of Capacity Development: Working Towards Good Practice. Paris: OECD.

Oxfam (2008), Public Information Boards Notes.

Paratharayil, M. (2007) Sphere – Effective Capacity Building Tool Used in the Asian Tsunami: Lessons learned in applying Sphere Standards: The experience of Christian Aid UK, London: Christian Aid, March.

People in Aid (2003), Code of Good Practice for human resource management in emergencies (revision of 1997 code).

People in Aid (2007), Basic Training for NGO workers.

People in Aid (2007), Behaviours which lead to effective performance in Humanitarian Response: A review of the use and effectiveness of competency frameworks within the Humanitarian Sector, June.

Pincha, C. (2008), Gender Sensitive Disaster Management: A Toolkit for Practitioners, Mumbai: Earthworm Books / Oxfam America & NANBAN Trust.

*Post-Nargis Recovery and Preparedness Plan*, Government of the Union of Myanmar, Association of Southeast Asian Nations, United Nations, December 2008.

Pouligny, B. (2002), "An Ethic of Responsibility in Practice", *International Social Science Journal* (UNESCO) 174: 529-538.

Pouligny, B. (2005), "Civil Society and Post-Conflict Peace Building: Ambiguities of International Programs Aimed at Building «New Societies»", *Security Dialogue* 36 (4): 447-462.

Pouligny, B. (2006), *Peace Operations Seen from Below: UN Missions and Local People*, London: Hurst / Bloomfield (CT): Kumarian Press.

Pouligny, B. with S. Chesterman and A. Schnabel, Eds. (2007) *After Mass Crime: Rebuilding States and Communities*, Tokyo/New York: United Nations University Press.

ProVention Forum (2008), From Grassroots to Global: People-Centered Disaster Risk Reduction. April 2008 Forum, Geneva: Provention Consortium.

Reich, H. (2006), "Local Ownership", in *Conflict Transformation Projects*. Berlin: Berghof Research Center for Constructive Conflict Management.

Schafer, W.A., Carroll, J.M., Haynest, S. R., Abrams, S. (2008), "Emergency Management Planning as Collaborative Community Work", *Journal of Homeland Security and Emergency Management*, Volume 5, Issue 1, Article 10, Berkeley Electronic Press.

Smillie, I. (2001) *Patronage or Partnership: Local Capacity Building in Humanitarian Crises*, Bloomfield (CT): Kumarian Press.

Smith, C., Jauregui, S. (2008), Care International in Peru. Case study. Making accountability to disaster affected people a reality, CARE/ECB.

Sphere (2004) Handbook

Sphere Handbook: Common Standards. Common standard 1: Participation. The Sphere Project: Participation.

Stockton, N. (2006) 'The Accountability Alibi', Humanitarian Exchange, no. 34, July, www.odihpn.org.

Stott, N. (2007) "Negotiating in *Practice* What is Non-Negotiable in *Principle*: Development Policy and Armed Non-State Actors." German Development Institute Discussion Paper, August.

Telford, J. and Cosgrave, J. (2006) *Joint evaluation of the international response to the Indian Ocean tsunami: Synthesis Report*. Tsunami Evaluation Coalition, London.

Turner, R., Baker J., Myo Oo, Z., Soe Aye, N. (2008), Inter-Agency Real Time Evaluation of the Response to Cyclone Nargis - 17 December 2008, IASC / UNOCHA / PDSB / ESS.

United Nations (2005), *The transition from relief to development: report of the Secretary-General*, (UN Doc. A/60/89-E/2005/79).

UNDP (2008), Capacity Development: Empowering People and Institutions, Annual Report, New York: UNDP.

UN Global Symposium +5 (2007), *Global Symposium* +5 on Information for Humanitarian Action: FinalReport. United Nations: Geneva, October 22-26.

UNHCR (2005), Handbook for Self-Reliance, Geneva.

UNICEF (2005), Voices of Hope: Adolescents and the Tsunami, New York: UNICEF.

UNICEF Executive Board (2006), *Post-crisis transition strategy in support of the medium-term strategic plan*, (E/ICEF/2006/17).

United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction (2004), Core Document, 31 March 2004.

UNISDR (2008a), Private Sector Activities in Disaster Risk Reduction. Good Practices and Lessons Learned, Bonn: UNISDR.

UNISDRn (2008b), *Indigenous Knowledge for Disaster Risk Reduction: Good Practices and Lessons Learned from Experiences in the Asia-Pacific Region*, Bangkok: UNISDR, July.

de Waal, A. (1994) Humanitarianism Unbound? Current Dilemmas Facing Multi-Mandate Relief Operations in Political Emergencies, Discussion Paper 5. London: African Rights.

Warhurst, A. (2006) *Disaster Prevention: A Role for Business?* International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies / the ProVention Consortium / Maplecroft.

White, S. (1996) "Depoliticising development: the uses and abuses of participation," Development in Practice 6 no. 1: 6-15.

WHO (2007), Risk Reduction and Emergency Preparedness: WHO six-year strategy for the health sector and community capacity development, Geneva: WHO/Health Action in Crises.

WMO (2006), Social Aspects and Stakeholder Involvement in Integrated Flood Management, WMO: Geneva / ADPC.

World Bank (2005), *Building Effective States—Forging Engaged Societies*, Task Force on Capacity Development in Africa, Washington, D.C.

World Economic Forum (2008), *Building Resilience to Natural Disasters: A Framework for Private Sector Engagement*. Geneva: World Economic Forum / World Bank / UNISDR.

World Vision International (2007), "Why Do Accountability? A Business Case from Sri Lanka," World Vision, April.

World Vision (2007), World Vision Lanka Tsunami Response. Humanitarian Accountability Team Lessons Learned: Perspectives from Communities and Staff, Qualitative Analysis Report, September.

#### Online resources:

Active Learning Network for Accountability and Performance in Humanitarian Action (ALNAP) http://www.alnap.org/

Aid Workers Network http://www.aidworkers.net

Collaborative for Development Action, Inc. (CDA)

http://www.cdainc.com/index.php.

Coordination SUD (Solidarité, Urgence, Développement)

http://www.coordinationsud.org/

(The)Emergency Capacity Building Project (ECB)

http://www.ecbproject.org

Humanitarian Accountability Partnership (HAP)

http://www.hapinternational.org/

Humanitarian Information Management (OCHA) http://www.humanitarianinfo.org/IMToolbox/

Humanitarian Practice Network http://www.odihpn.org

People In Aid

http://www.peopleinaid.org

**Provention Consortium** 

http://www.proventionconsortium.org

Relief Web

http://www.reliefweb.int

(The) Sphere Project

http://www.sphereproject.org/

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA)

http://ochaonline.un.org/

URD (Urgence Réhabilitation Développement)

http://www.urd.org/en/presentation/index\_en.htm

**URD Quality COMPAS** 

http://www.projetqualite.org/compas/outil

#### **Imprint**

#### © 2009

**Disclaimer:** The views expressed in this publication are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Global Public Policy Institute, the Center for Transatlantic Relations, the European Commission or the Federal Ministry fo Economic Cooperation and Development

Layout and design: David Steets

Front cover photograph: Earthquake victims waiting for the delivery of food supplies in Gujarat, India

photo by Christoph Mukherjee and David Steets from the series: Earthquake, India

Editors: Global Public Policy Institute and Center for Transatlantic Relations

Print: AZ Druck und Datentechnik

#### The "Raising the Bar" - Project is generously supported by





#### **Center for Transatlantic Relations (CTR)**

Web: http://transatlantic.sais-jhu.edu

Mail: transatlantic@jhu.edu Phone: +1 202 663 5880 Fax + 1 202 663 5879

#### Global Public Policy Institute (GPPi)

Web: www.gppi.net
Mail: gppi@gppi.net

Phone: +49 30 27 59 59 75 0 Fax: +49 30 690 88 200

